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DEDICATION.





 




 TO

PETER W. GRAY, ESQ.




 DEAR

SIR: I present you with the first volume of my HISTORY OF TEXAS. It doubtless

has many defects, and I can only regret that I have nothing better to offer. It

is the fruit of days and nights stolen from other pursuits.




 I am

greatly indebted to you for papers and suggestions. I owe a like debt to Jesse

Grimes, Esq., Dr. B. B. Goodrich, General H. H. Edwards, Colonel J. C.

Harrison, Colonel S. A. Miller, and several other gentlemen; but, especially,

to F. Giraud, Esq., and Colonel John Forbes.




 The

materials for the history of Texas during the last century are very slender;

yet it is believed there are more in existence. For instance—1. The

correspondence of the Franciscan friars from 1716 to 1794 is believed to be in

the parent-convents of Queretaro and Zacatecas. This would throw a flood of

light upon that period. 2. The thirty folio volumes, covering the transactions

in Texas for the first half-century of its history, were forwarded to the king

of Spain in 1744, and are probably in the archives of Salmanca, in Spain. 3.

The Berlandier manuscripts. Dr. Berlandier, a Swiss geographer, was engaged in

Mexico and Texas from 1826 to 1850 in collecting documents and facts,

historical, geographical, &c., and died in Matamoras in the last-named

year, leaving his extensive manuscripts in the hands of his widow. These she

sold to an officer of the United States navy. He has deposited them in the

Smithsonian Institution for safekeeping, desirous to dispose of them to the

government. When accessible, they will doubtless throw light upon the history

of our state. 4. Don Ramon Arispé, curate of Bourbon, in Tamaulipas, promised

the king of Spain, in his memorial of 1811, to write a history of the eastern

internal provinces. If he did so, I have not seen it.




 Besides

these materials, of which I have not had the benefit, there are doubtless in

the archives of Mexico, Chihuahua, Saltillo, and Monclova, many valuable

historical papers. In Bexar there are some yet unpublished. Our legislature

directed the appointment of a person to arrange and translate these last-named

papers, and made an appropriation for that purpose; but the gentleman appointed

has made no report to my knowledge. The want of these materials must be my

excuse for not furnishing something more worthy of your consideration.




 The

materials for the second volume, which will close with our annexation, will be

more ample. In the meantime, if the perusal of this volume shall afford you

half the pleasure I had in its compilation, I shall be more than gratified.




 Very

truly your friend,




 




 H.

YOAKUM.




 




 SHEPHERD'S

VALLEY, TEXAS, July 3, 1854.




 


















 INTRODUCTION.




 




 THE

gulf of Mexico is somewhat in the shape of a horseshoe, having at the two heels

Capes Florida and Catorce, and a perimeter of three thousand miles. Its opening

is defended and adorned by the island of Cuba, possessing some of the finest

harbors in the world. Commencing at Cape Florida, we find the ports and harbors

are as numerous as could be desired. They are—Tampa, Apalachie, Mobile, New

Orleans, Achafalaya, Calcasieu, Sabine, Galveston, Matagorda, Corpus Christi,

Brasos Santiago, Soto la Marina, Tampico, Vera Cruz, Tehuantepec, Campeachy,

Sisal, and Sagartos. True, some of them are of small capacity; yet they are

sufficient for the vast commerce of this great inland sea, and the rich

territories that border it.




 At the

toe of this great shoe lies the territory of TEXAS, extending from the

twenty-sixth nearly to the thirtieth parallel of north latitude, a distance of

380 miles along the coast. It extends into the interior to the parallel of

thirty-six and a half degrees north, and lies between the ninety-fourth and the

one hundred and fifth degrees of longitude west from Greenwich—embracing an

area of two hundred and thirty-seven thousand square miles, or about one

hundred and fifty millions of acres. The country along the coast is a level

prairie; but, as you pass to the interior, the surface gradually rises and

becomes more undulating—and, still farther inland, hilly, and then mountainous.

Timber also begins to appear as the country becomes more undulating, especially

in the eastern portion of the state. Yet, after crossing an extensive belt of

timber, and reaching more than a hundred miles from the coast, you find the

high, rolling prairies—composed of the richest soil in the world, covered with

musquit-grass, and having, along the streams and valleys, sufficient timber for

ordinary purposes.




 Texas

is an alluvial country, having very little rock on its surface. Everywhere is

to be found unmistakeable evidence of its having been submerged. In the extreme

northern part primitive rocks may be found, though in the inhabited portion

they are never seen. The variety of her latitude and elevation gives to her

citizens a like variety of climate and productions. In the south, they grow

oranges and sugar-cane; in the middle region, cotton; farther north, wheat; and

potatoes, corn, and vegetables, everywhere. In fact, there is no country of

like extent where a greater variety and quantity of agricultural productions

can be raised; nor is there any country where the laborer can find a more

certain and better reward for his toil.




 Circumstances

alone have postponed to these latter days the development of the vast resources

of Texas. Galveston, her principal harbor—situated about four hundred miles

from New Orleans, seven hundred from Vera Cruz, and eight hundred from

Cuba—affords her a commercial outlet sufficient for her growing purposes. When

her interior shall be supplied with railroad facilities—and in no country can

they be more cheaply built—she will have nothing further to desire.




 


















 




 CHAPTER I.




 




 THE

first European emigrants to Texas were led hither by Robert Cavalier, the Sieur

de la Salle, who landed on the west side, and near the entrance, of Matagorda

bay, on the 18th of February, 1685. La Salle was a brave and gallant knight of

Louis XIV. He was a native of Rouen, in Normandy. Born of a good family, and

destined for the church, he received, under the guidance of the Jesuits, an

excellent scientific education. He was a man of great abilities, of an

enterprising spirit, and possessed of a firmness of mind which peril and

adversity seemed only to strengthen. He kept his own counsel, relied upon his

own genius, and bore without a murmur whatever ills befell him. But, with all

these good qualities, such was his ambition, that it rendered him morose and

sullen—haughty, not only to his dependants, but his associates.




 It is

remarkable that the mouth of the Mississippi was not discovered until one

hundred and ninety years after the discovery of America; and still more so,

that this discovery should have been made through Canada. Ferdinand De Soto,

coming from Florida, had seen it, and been buried in its waters about the year

1543. And in 1673, Marquette, a Recollect missionary, with six others, under

the direction of M. Talon, the intendant-general of Canada, starting out from

Mackinac, crossed over to the great river, and floated down as far as the mouth

of the Arkansas. But it was reserved to La Salle to discover its mouth, which

he did on the 7th day of April, 1682, and, on the 9th, celebrated the discovery

with great ceremony, taking possession, in the name of Louis XIV., by

proclamation and proces verbal, of all the territory watered by the

Mississippi from its mouth to its source, and by the streams flowing into it on

both side.




 The

report of this splendid discovery, which was made known in Europe, by La Salle

and his followers, on their return to France, created great excitement, not

only at court, but among the learned. The idea of a nearer route to Asia had

occupied the minds of commercial and learned men since the time of Columbus.

When the trappers and fur-traders of Canada first learned, from the Indians,

the existence of this great river, the impression prevailed that it emptied

into the Vermilion sea, the name then given to the gulf of California.




 La

Salle had many enemies: some caused by his harsh and overbearing temper;

others, through envy of his fame; and yet others, on account of the monopoly in

trade granted him by the king. Yet he had two friends at court—Frontenac, the

former governor of Canada, and Seignelay, son of the great Colbert—who aided

him greatly in presenting the importance of his discovery, in removing the

unfavorable impressions made by his enemies, and, above all, in opening the way

and providing the means for further adventures, and the permanent occupancy of

the newly-discovered territory. La Salle proposed to proceed to the mouth of

the Mississippi by sea; and, being provided with provisions, implements of

husbandry, mechanics’ tools, and colonists, to found a colony there. All this

was granted, and in a manner suitable to the importance of the enterprise, and

the dignity and munificence of the great Louis. A commission was issued to him,

giving him authority to establish colonies in Louisiana, and to take command of

the expedition.




 A

squadron of four vessels was provided and furnished by the king: that is, the Joli,

a frigate of thirty-six guns; the Belle, of six guns, a present from the

king to La Salle; the Aimable, a ship of some three hundred tons’

burden; and a small vessel, the St. Francis, carrying munitions.

Beaujeu, who commanded the Joli, was also commander of the squadron, but was to

be under the direction of La Salle, except in the business of navigating the

ships at sea, till they arrived in America: Beaujeu was also to assist him in

making preparations for the voyage. The whole number of persons who embarked in

the expedition was more than three hundred, of whom one hundred were soldiers,

thirty volunteers, and the rest workmen, girls, and seamen. The missionary

force consisted of seven persons, viz.: four Recollect fathers, Zenobe Membrè,

Anastase Douay, Maxime Leclercq, and Denis Marquet; three priests of St.

Sulpitius, Cavalier, brother of La Salle, Chedeville his relation, and Majulte.

Among the volunteers were several gentlemen of distinction, among whom may be

mentioned Joutel, the historian of the expedition; Moragnet and young Cavalier,

nephews of La Salle; Planterose, Thibault, and Ory, from Rouen, the native town

of La Salle; also M. Talon, a gentleman of Canada, with his family.




 On the

24th of July, 1684, the squadron set sail from Rochelle. La Salle was on board

of Beaujeu's ship, the Joli. An utter want of confidence existed between those

two persons. This was caused to some extent by the anomalous position they

occupied, the authority of each not having been defined by the marine

department; but still more by the pride of Beaujeu and the obstinacy of La

Salle. The former had been a captain for thirteen years in the French navy, and

took to himself great credit for consenting to obey the orders of the Sieur de

la Salle, who had never served in war, except against savages, and who had no

military rank. And when Beaujeu would propose to him anything, he would

haughtily reply, “This is not the king's intention.” Previous to the departure

of the squadron, Beaujeu wrote again to the minister, reminding him how

disagreeable it was for him to be under the orders of a man who had no military

rank, and asking positive orders on the point; stating that he wished the

orders to be of such a character, that no blame should attach to him should La

Salle fail in his project. He wished also to know what was to be done with the

soldiers, as La Salle had already set up a claim to their command so soon as

they should land in America. The minister did not enlighten him with any

further instructions—nor did La Salle with any intimation of his intentions. It

was in this awkward relation that the two chiefs left Rochelle. They had not

gone more than fifty leagues to sea when the bowsprit of the Joli was broken,

and they returned for repairs. They put out again on the 1st of August.

Descrying the island of Madeira, Beaujeu proposed to anchor, and take in water

and refreshments; but La Salle refused, alleging that they had on board

plentiful supplies, that it would produce unnecessary delay, and expose the

design of their expedition to the risk of being discovered by the Spaniards.




 Near

the coast of St. Domingo, the vessels were separated by a storm; but, between

the 28th of September and the 2d of October, they all came into port at Petit

Gouave, except the St. Francis, which was taken by the Spaniards. This was a

severe loss, as the stores on this bark were important to the success of the

enterprise. La Salle was for three weeks confined at this port with fever. He,

however, recovered; was visited by the governor and intendant of St. Domingo;

and, after laying in the proper stores and suitable domestic animals, and

consulting with pilots acquainted with the West India seas, he prepared to

depart. La Salle transferred himself and some others from the Joli to the

Aimable, and directed the latter, the heaviest sailer of the three, to go in

front. This may have been the better to keep the squadron together, but more

probably to get rid of Beaujeu. They sailed from Petit Gonave on the 25th of

November, and, passing round the southern shore of Cuba, anchored and remained

three days at the isle of Pines. At length, after being driven about by adverse

winds, and spending some days at Cape St. Anthony, the squadron, on the 28th of

December, 1684, discovered land. They had been sailing a northwest course, but,

from the account they had received from the West India pilots of the strong

gulf-stream which passed around the cape of Florida, they supposed they had

been carried east of the mouth of the Mississippi, and were on the coast of

Florida. Besides, La Salle, when he discovered the mouth of the Mississippi,

had attempted to take its latitude, but had placed it two degrees too far

south. So that, with these two errors, instead of being on the bay of

Appalachie, Dr. Sparks thinks they were a hundred miles west of the mouth of

the Mississippi, near the bay of Achafalaya. Joutel says that, on the 2d of

January, the squadron was, according to conjecture, pretty near the mouth of

the Mississippi; and that, on the 10th, they passed by it, without perceiving

it. It is at this time impossible and unimportant to know where they were when

they first descried land. Conceiving themselves to be east of the mouth of the

Mississippi, they coasted westward. La Salle landed on the 1st of January,

1685, perhaps east of the Sabine—but, making no discoveries, and being unable

to learn anything from the Indians, proceeded westward till about the 17th of

January, when, having passed Corpus Christi inlet, and finding the coast

tending south, they discovered their error, and that they were upon the borders

of Mexico. Here Joutel landed with a party in search of fresh water. They found

the water salt, but secured an abundance of game. All being satisfied that they

had passed the Mississippi, La Salle proposed to Beaujeu to return. This he

refused, unless furnished with a new supply of provisions. La Salle offered him

a supply for fifteen days, by which time he expected they would reach the mouth

of the river. This the captain refused; and La Salle declined giving him more,

fearing that he would abandon him, and sail to the West Indies. The difference

between the chiefs of the expedition increased: but, in the meantime, the

vessels fell back—but by whose order, or in what way, we are not informed—and

sailed through Pass Cavallo into the bay of St. Bernard, since known as

Matagorda bay. On the 18th of February, 1685, some of the company went ashore,

while others were engaged in sailing up the bay and exploring the adjacent

coast. On the 20th, La Salle sent orders to the commander of the Aimable to

land the heaviest goods, and run her into the bay. It seems that La Salle

intended to be present at the execution of this order; but the marquis of

Sablonniere and others, who had gone out on the 18th, had been taken by the

Indians as they were strolling along the shore, and he found it necessary to go

and retake them. The channels on either side of Pelican island had been

sounded, and it was found that the vessels could enter. The Belle had already

entered, and the pilot of this vessel was sent to guide the Aimable through the

channel; but the commander of the latter refused his aid, saying he could

manage his own ship. He hoisted sail, ran upon a shoal, and was lost.




 In the

meantime a temporary camp had been formed on the west side, and near the

entrance of the bay. Another camp, a considerable distance higher up, on the

same side of the bay—perhaps at Indian point—was formed by Captain Hurier and

part of the company, by the order of La Salle.




 The

colony was greatly refreshed by an abundance of game and fish; and, charmed

with the country, and the herds of buffalo and deer that were seen grazing on

the prairies, they began to think they would soon realize the paradise they had

come so far to find. La Salle had not yet lost hope that he was on one of the

mouths of the Mississippi; and, though the loss of the Aimable, containing the

greater portion of the articles provided for the use of the colony, was a

serious misfortune, his ardor was the same, his resolution unconquerable.

Joutel and Moragnet were sent out at the head of an exploring party, to proceed

up the west side of the bay. La Salle, having reclaimed the men taken by the

Indians, had exchanged with them some hatchets for two canoes, with which he

explored the eastern shore of the bay. The party of Jontel, after a three days’

march, came to a river, probably the Aransas, which they were unable to cross

without a boat. Being in full view of La Salle, then on the opposite shore, he

went over to them. Having satisfied himself as to the extent of the bay, La

Salle and the party returned.




 The

business of saving as much as possible of the wreck of the Aimable occupied

some time. La Salle procured from Beaujeu the boats of the Joll, and, after

taking off the crew, he brought away the powder and flour, then the wine and

brandy, in all some sixty barrels. Joutel is so cruel as to charge St. Aigron,

the captain of the Aimable, with sinking his boat on purpose; but this can not

be believed. Some blankets from the wreck having been driven ashore, they were

picked up and appropriated by the Indians. La Salle, wishing to obtain canoes

in exchange for these goods, sent Lieutenant Du Hamel of the Joli, who had

volunteered for that purpose, to negotiate the affair. But Du Hamel,

unacquainted with the Indian character, or the mode of gaining their good will,

rushed into their village with his armed men, which so frightened them, that

they could not regard them as friends. Being unable to make himself understood,

he seized two of their canoes and a parcel of skins, and returned. The Indians,

in revenge for this act of hostility, pursued them, and overtook them where

they had landed and gone to sleep, and poured into their camp a shower of

arrows, which killed Ory and Desloges, two particular friends, of La Salle, and

wounded two others, one of whom was his nephew.




 The

failure to find the mouth of the Mississippi; the loss of the Aimable, and the

greater part of the stores with which she was freighted; and the death of Ory

and Desloges—the first European blood shed in Texas—all combined to dishearten

the colonists. In addition to this, the few provisions saved were nearly

consumed; which, notwithstanding the prairies abounded with buffalo and deer,

and the waters with wild-fowls and fishes, alarmed the faint-hearted, and

caused murmuring and discontent. And, to add to the loneliness of their

situation, and cut them off from the civilized world, Beaujeu sailed on the

12th of March for France, taking with him the captain and crew of the Aimable.

When he left, he carried away all the cannon-balls, thus leaving La Salle with

eight cannons, and not a single ball. Yet it seems La Salle must have furnished

him with provisions, or he could not have returned.




 La

Salle had among his colonists many enemies: some the partisans of Beaujeu; some

from disgust, and want of fortitude to bear up under misfortune; others, again,

who attributed to his obstinacy the bad state of their affairs. In fact, his

colonists had been selected from the dregs of France; and, with the exception

of a few who had volunteered to follow him, were persons generally destitute of

character, honesty, or enterprise. Among them were Doinmaville and Mignet, two

engineers, who became seditious, and were unceasingly denouncing his conduct,

and charging his undertakings with folly and rashness. Yet La Salle was firm.

His resolution seemed to rise with his misfortunes.




 The

colonists had constructed a shelter for themselves and their goods out of the

wreck of the Aimable, and had surrounded it with entrenchments to protect them

from the Indians; and had sown grain in the adjacent lands. The cattle, swine,

and fowls, they had brought from St. Domingo, multiplied and prospered.




 When their

buildings had commenced, La Salle gave orders to Joutel to complete them; and,

taking with him about sixty of his men, he went on a tour of discovery. He

still labored under the delusion that the bay might be one of the mouths of the

Mississippi. While he coasted round the west end of the bay, the commander of

the Belle was ordered to sound it, and sail up it so as to keep in

communication with him. He passed the Aransas, and at length came to a river

which he named Les Vaches, on account of the number of buffaloes found

there. This, of all the names given by La Salle to the streams, bays, &c.,

of Texas, is, perhaps, the only one retained by the Spaniards. Sailing up the

Lavaca for some six miles, he found on the western bank of the river a beautiful

spot for a settlement. It was an elevation, from which could be seen to the

north and west extensive undulating prairies, covered with grass, and relieved

by occasional clusters of timber; to the south and east were spread out the

bay, and timber along the coast and banks of the river. Having selected this

point, he began in good earnest to think of making a settlement, and fortifying

it. Accordingly, he sent Villeperdry back in a canoe, with orders that all the

colonists, except thirty men who were to remain in the fort with Joutel, should

join him. This detachment was left to guard the crop which the colonists had

planted.




 Doubtless

the new point selected was more suitable in many respects, especially for

health and fertility. Yet the colonists were compelled to bring their timber

three miles. But the example of La Salle was encouraging. He was always the

first to put his hand to work. The master-carpenter having been lost, he took

his place. He laid out the tenons and mortices, and compelled every one to work

that was able. The forces under Joutel being continually annoyed by the

savages, who had killed some of the men, La Salle sent him an order to join

him, with his command, on the Lavaca. The order was received on the 14th of

July, 1686, and immediately obeyed. Sickness, arising no doubt from great

fatigue and incessant labor in a warm climate, soon carried off about forty of

the colonists. But, notwithstanding this fearful inroad upon their numbers, and

the consequent gloom cast over the survivors, the work went on. A new shelter

and entrenchment were to be erected. The gun-carriages were at first used by

the men to haul the timbers; but the Lavaca being found deep enough for the

Belle, twenty men were sent to the old fort to bring up in her the materials used

in its construction. This was effected by forming them into a raft, and towing

it up at the stern of the vessel. With this addition, the fort was soon

completed, and named St. Louis.




 We will

here take leave of the colony for a short time, and inquire where they were,

who were their neighbors, and who had claim to the soil on which they were

established.




 


















 CHAPTER II.




 




 AT the

time of the landing of the French colony, and for many years afterward, the

territory now known as TEXAS was peopled only by Indians, and but sparsely by

them. Indeed, it is more than probable that no European had previously been

upon her soil. The nearest Spanish settlement was at Panuco, near Tampico, a

distance of more than two hundred leagues south of the Lavaca river. On the

northeast, Fort Prudhomme, at the mouth of the Wabash, and Fort Crevecœur, on

the Illinois, had, but a year or two before, been constructed by the French.

The Spanish colony in Florida, though formed some time before, was languishing.

The city of Philadelphia had been founded but three years before, by the pious

Penn. The colonies of New England, numbering then about a hundred thousand

inhabitants, were struggling with Great Britain for their charters, and with

the Indians for their lands. New York, with a population of some four thousand,

had just changed owners, and witnessed the assembling, for the first time, of

her legislature. Virginia, groaning under the despotic acts of Charles II., had

just closed, with defeat, the rebellion of Nathaniel Bacon, which left her

unable to pay the costs so incurred. The Spaniards claim to have settled

Coahuila as early as the year 1600, but many circumstances go to prove this to

be untrue. Chihuahua was not settled till 1691. New Mexico had been settled

earlier. As early as 1594, two Franciscan friars from Mexico visited the

Indians near where Santa Fé now stands. They were well received. They returned

with the information, and giving a favorable account of the country. Juan de

Oñate, another monk, was sent out in 1595, and made a further exploration, and

perhaps took possession, or entered into a treaty with the Moqui and Apache

Indians. It seems that a settlement was thereafter made, on the river, near the

site of the present town of Santa Fé. In 1680, however, the Indians rose en

masse, fell on the Spaniards by surprise, killed a large number of them,

and obliged them to retreat to the Paso del Norte. In 1681, Otermin, governor

of New Mexico, made another attempt to recover the settlement. From this period

to 1695, the Spaniards and Indians were engaged in a constant warfare—the

former keeping their stronghold of Paso del Norte, and the latter holding the

country about Santa Fé. At length, during the last-mentioned year, General

Diego de Bargas, having conquered the Indians of New Mexico, obtained the

entire pacification of the country.




 From

the foregoing sketch of European settlements in North America, it will appear

that La Salle's neighbors were few and distant. The Indians, from their mode of

living, and the continual wars among their tribes, we may judge were thinly

scattered over the vast country lying between the Rio Grande and Red river. The

Camanches, then as now, were a tribe of roaming, predatory thieves. They

occupied the northern and northwestern portion of Texas, and the Rio Grande as

low as the mouth of the Salado. The depredations which they had formerly

committed on the Aztees of the great empire of Anahuac, were now turned upon

their European conquerors occupying the colonies of Panuco, El Paso, Montclova,

and Monterey. From these they supplied themselves with horses, arms, silver

plate, &c.; and, being in treaty with other Indians along the coast, and

farther east and north, the latter were thus furnished with horses and

firearms.




 The

Indians along the coast, commencing on the south, were the Lipans and

Carankawacs, extending from the Rio Grande along the banks of the Pashahono

and the Tockanhono, the beautiful Indian names of the Colorado and

Brasos. They lived mostly upon fish; and, from the fact that they first

encountered the rude shock of the white man, have ever been considered most

hostile. Indeed, from the stories of Belile and others, they have been deemed

cannibals; but no authentic fact has been sufficiently established to fix upon

these people the horrid practice. The kind reception by them given to La Salle,

shows their good disposition. That they were thieves is not to be set down

against them, as the rights of property are unknown among savages. The next

tribe, going east, were the Cenis, inhabiting Buffalo bayou, the San Jacinto

valley, and the Trinity river. These were distinguished for their hospitality

and gentleness of disposition. The greater part of this tribe occupied the

banks of the Trinity, which they called Arcokisa. Here their villages

were large and populous. Their habitations were like bee-hives, and some of

them forty feet high. As they devoted much time to raising corn, &c., they

were enabled to sustain a larger population, and were comparatively more

wealthy. They were great traders, and had procured (through their allies the

Camanches) from the Spaniards horses, money, silver spoons, spurs, and

clothing. Such were their comforts and conveniences of life when found there by

the French in 1686.




 The

next tribe east were the Nassonis, or Nassonites, a name perhaps including

several tribes living between the Cenis and the Sabine river. These Indians

seemed to be alike distinguished with their western neighbors for kindness to

strangers, and the possession of means to make them comfortable.




 Such, a

century and three quarters since, were the original inhabitants of Texas. They

formed a portion of the great Shoshonie class, occupying what is now the

southwestern part of the United States. The landing of the colony of La Salle

was to them a new era. The sight of ships and the sound of firearms were to

them subjects of awe and astonishment. Living in the simplicity of uneducated

nature, they had their domestic wars, which were conducted without system, but

in a manner suited to their wild habits. They were worshippers of the sun, and

full of the superstitions common to the North American Indians. They had their

rain-makers, their game-finders, and their witches. But the latter, like the

witches of ancient New England, found little favor: they were deemed to be in

communion with the evil one, and consequently were put to death—most generally

by the war-clubs of those that suffered under their supposed incantations.




 At that

time, Texas was without a boundary and without a name. The Spaniards had not

yet penetrated east of the Rio Grande, at least below the Paso del Norte; and

La Salle was still endeavoring and hoping to establish the fact that he was in

the vicinity of one of the mouths of the Mississippi. Texas to him and his

people, and afterward his nation, was a part of Louisiana. He had discovered

the mouth of the great river; the coast thence to the confines of Mexico; had

planted a colony on one of her rivers; had stocked it with domestic animals,

and planted fields with the seeds of husbandry. By all the rules, then, of

national law, apart from the claim of the Indians, the country was French, and,

if they chose to call it so, a part of Louisiana. The country was French by

right of discovery. To Spain it was utterly unknown. The voyagers Ponce de

Leon, Narvaez, De Ayllon, and De Soto, had never seen any of the vast extent of

seacoast between Cape Florida and Soto de la Marina. The pretension and claim

set up by Spain to this country, because she was in possession of these extreme

points, are not supported by any of the rules of national law established by

the governments of Europe in regard to their American discoveries. These rules

were—




 1. That

when any European nation takes possession of any extent of seacoast, that

possession is understood as extending into the interior country to the sources

of the rivers emptying within that coast, to all their branches, and the

country they cover, and to give it a right in exclusion of all other nations to

the same.




 2. That

whenever one European nation makes a discovery, and takes possession of any

portion of this continent, and another afterward does the same at some distance

from it, where the boundary between them is not determined by the principle

above mentioned, that the middle distance becomes such, of course.




 3. That

whenever any European nation has thus acquired a right to any portion of

territory on this continent, that right can never be diminished or affected by

any other power, by virtue of purchases made, by grants, or conquests of the

natives, within the limits thereof.




 The

French colony, tested by these indisputable rules of natural equity, were thus

upon French soil.




 Spain,

however, entertained a different view of the matter. This kingdom, formed under

the auspices of Ferdinand and Isabella, with the powerful aid of Cardinal

Ximenes, had grown to be one of the first nations of Europe. The discovery of

America, the receipts from the mines, and the commerce of the colonies

(amounting annually to over fifty millions of dollars), and, above all, the

victories of Charles V., had imparted to the nation a spirit of ambition and

love of dominion which knew no bounds. The sixteenth century closed with the

gloomy and superstitious tyranny of Philip II., which had lasted for forty-two

years. During his reign the greatness of Spain began to decline. He left his

country bankrupt, and a prey to dissensions foreign and domestic. But her

ambition was in nowise lessened. Pope Alexander VI., in 1494, had settled the

dispute between the kings of Portugal and Castile concerning their claims in

America, dividing their conquests by a line running from pole to pole, three

hundred and seventy miles west of the Azores; and, by his bull, confirmed to

Spain the country west of that meridian. In pursuance of this claim, and the

voyages of De Leon in 1512, De Ayllon in 1525, De Narvaez in 1527, and De Soto

in 1538—although they had sailed only from Cape Florida to Cape Catorce, or

perhaps as high up as the Soto de la Marina—Philip II. of Spain issued a royal

order prohibiting all foreigners from entering the gulf of Mexico, or any of

the territories lying around it, under pain of extermination! And this order

was repeated to the Spanish colonial viceroys and governors, requiring its

strict observance and execution.




 Here,

then, in the settlement by La Salle, under the orders of his sovereign, and the

monstrous pretensions of Spain, is laid the foundation of a controversy, which,

being transferred from one party to another, is finally and for ever closed by

the treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, made between the United States and

Mexico, on the 2d of February, 1848.




 These

facts, together with the jealousy and constant watchfulness of the Spanish

rulers in Mexico, will serve as a key to many of the events narrated in this history.

We will now return to the colonists on the Lavaca.




 


















 CHAPTER III.




 




 AFTER

the necessary steps had been taken to secure the colony from the Indians,

Joutel was left in command of the fort, and La Salle, with a company of twenty

men, set out, about the last of October, 1685, on an expedition to explore the

country. The Belle was ordered to the upper end of the bay, where she was

stationed, and directed so to remain till further orders. La Salle, dividing

his company, some of them went down the Lavaca in canoes, and he with the

others crossed over and descended to the head of the bay on the east side. Here

he sent out five men in canoes to sound the bay, and ascertain how far the

Belle could be brought up. Night coming on without their return, he went in

search of them, and found on the shore, where they had encamped, their mangled

bodies—the Indians having murdered them, perhaps while asleep. Giving his

orders to the Belle, La Salle caused the canoes to be sunk in a small creek;

and each of the company having supplied his knapsack with provisions, they set

out on their journey. They travelled east as far as the Colorado. During this

expedition, which lasted till nearly spring, La Salle doubtless explored the

valley of the Colorado, and perhaps much of the surrounding country. At any

rate, he must have satisfied himself that he was far from the Mississippi.




 On his

return, La Salle sent some of his men down to the bay to search for the Belle,

while with the others he returned to the fort, where they were joyfully

received. The next day, the party who had gone in search of the Belle, returned

without having found any trace of the vessel; nor had she been heard from by

any of those at the fort.




 In this

condition of his affairs, destitute of means for sustaining the colony, cut off

from all communication with the civilized world, having under his command a

number of persons that were sowing the seeds of rebellion against his authority

and perhaps his life, and surrounded by a treacherous and savage foe, La Salle

determined upon the bold expedient of opening a communication with De Tonti in

Illinois. This required a tedious and perilous journey of some two thousand

miles over an unexplored waste, peopled by those who had never seen the face of

a white man.




 Having

resolved upon the journey, La Salle left the fort under the charge of his

faithful Joutel, and selected a company of twenty men to go with him. Among

these were Father Anastase, Moragnet, his brother Cavalier, Bihorel, Le Clerk,

Hurier, Nika the Canadian Indian, and Heins, a surgeon, and formerly a

buccaneer. Having made the necessary preparations, they performed their

devotions in the chapel of the fort, and set out on their journey on the 22d of

April, 1686. They travelled in a northeastern direction, and at the end of ten

days reached the Colorado. Previous to this, however, they met with a party of

Camanche Indians having horses and saddles. Those that were mounted wore boots

and spurs. This was proof that these Texan Bedouins had held intercourse with

the Spaniards of Mexico. In fact, at this early period the horse had been

extensively introduced into Texas; and, as the Camanches often rode them down,

they abandoned them to graze on the prairies, or to die. Hence, in a few years,

the prairies abounded in mustangs.




 At this

season of the year the Texan streams are always swollen, so that La Salle and

his party were greatly retarded in their journey. They were compelled to build

rafts over branches which in other parts of the year are dry. They were

hindered also by the necessity of killing and drying buffalo-meat for their

sustenance. From the direction they travelled, they perhaps crossed the

Colorado about Elliot's ferry. Here they changed their course more to the east,

and, reaching the Brasos probably not far from Columbia, they found it full and

running rapidly. La Salle, with part of his company, on a raft, were hurried

down the stream until they were considered as lost. They were two days crossing

his stream; and Father Anastase informs us that he carried his breviary in his

cowl, to keep it dry. Having all crossed over safely, they found themselves in

a swamp, covered with canes and vines. They were engaged two days in cutting

their way out. After reaching the fine prairies and open woods, they found

their condition more agreeable. They soon fell in with the Cenis Indians, who

treated them with great hospitality; indeed, the white race were, at first,

everywhere so treated by the Indians in Texas. This, the most numerous and

civilized tribe of Texan Indians, owned a large extent of country: they

occupied all the territory between the great prairie on the northwest and the

gulf-coast, and from toward the Brasos to the Neches. Their centre of empire

was not far from Cold Spring, in Polk county. What has become of this tribe,

once the proud ally of the Camanche, and the hospitable retainer of the gallant

La Salle? Tradition says that, after the settlement of Louisiana by the French,

the powerful tribes on the banks of the Mississippi, driven west by these

intruders, took refuge in Texas. They first encountered the Nassonites: these

retreated to the north, and gave them a place to dwell. But, as other tribes

were driven out, they crowded on the latter. The fall of the Natchez, and the

expulsion of the Alabamas and Choctaws, brought a further accession. Before

this formidable host of new-comers the peaceful Cenis retired to the banks of

the Trinity. Here they met, and on the left bank of this stream, some

seventy-five years ago, a great battle was fought, in which the nation of the

Cenis was utterly destroyed.




 But, to

return to La Salle. One of the Cenis gave him a horse to ride. He and his

company were received and feasted by this tribe; and, after some trading, in

which, among other things, we are informed that one horse was purchased for a

hatchet, and Father Anastase was offered another for his cowl, the travellers

pursued their journey.




 They

soon reached the country of the Nassonites. Here La Salle and his nephew were

attacked with fever, by which they were detained two months. On his recovery,

he found the stock of ammunition reduced so low, that he would proceed no

farther. As the game they killed was their only means of support, it was

necessary to return to the fort on the Lavaca for powder. They reached the fort

on the 17th of October, much wearied, and with but eight men.




 La

Salle soon learned the history of what had transpired in his absence. The

Indians had been troublesome, but had made no attack on the place. Duhaut had

endeavored to stir up a mutiny, but the firmness of Joutel and the mild

persuasions of Father Zenobe had prevented it. The survivors of the Belle had

come in, and reported that the vessel had been stranded on the southern shore

of the bay; that six of the men had been lost in a canoe while returning from

the land in the night—some had died on board of disease, and others had perished

on a raft—so that the remaining force was not sufficient to manage the ship,

and thus she was lost. The survivors, saving themselves, with a few articles

and provisions, and the clothes and papers of La Salle, landed from a raft on

the strand, where they remained for three months. At length a canoe floated

ashore, by means of which they were enabled to reach the fort. However, amid

all this gloom, and the wasting away of the colonists, the Sieur Barbier and

one of the maidens of the fort afforded them some pleasure by a wedding. This

was the first European marriage on the soil of Texas.




 From

this time to the 12th of January, 1687, La Salle was preparing to start again

on his journey to the Illinois. He caused to be constructed a new storehouse,

and made other provisions for the colony, which at this time consisted of about

forty persons.




 He

selected for his companions in this, his last journey, twenty persons, among

them Father Anastase, his two nephews Moragnet and Cavalier, his brother

Cavalier the priest, Joutel, Duhaut, L'Archeveque de Marne, Heins, Lietot,

Tessier, Saget his footman, and Nika the Indian hunter. These are all mentioned

because of the part they took in the tragic scenes which shortly after

occurred.




 In the

fort were left some twenty persons, under the command of the Sieur Barbier. On

January 12th, having called them all together, and made known to them in an

affectionate address the necessity of the journey, he set out. He took with him

about five thousand dollars in coin and plate, and six thousand dollars’ worth

of goods. They found less difficulty in this their second journey on the same

route, from the fact of their past experience. Besides, they carried with them

a portable boat of buffalo-skins, and were assisted in crossing the streams by

the kind-hearted Indians. They also furnished them with more horses.




 The

party continued their journey till the 15th of March, when they came near to

the spot where, on the previous tour, La Salle had buried some corn and beans.

Previous to this, however, they had learned from the Cenis Indians of a

Frenchman named Rutel, among that tribe, who had wandered from La Salle on the

Mississippi in 1682, and had been living with these Indians ever since. Joutel

went for him and brought him to the camp. He was delighted with the idea of

again returning to Europe. From the route pursued, and the time they had been

travelling, they must have been, at this time, on the Neches river.




 La

Salle ordered Duhaut, Heins, Lietot, L'Archeveque, Tessier, Saget, and Nika, to

go and bring away the corn and beans. They went to the place, but the

provisions were spoiled. In the meantime, Nika had killed a supply of

buffalo-meat, and Saget was sent to get horses to carry it into the camp. La

Salle directed his nephew Moragnet and De Marne to return with horses in

company with Saget for the meat—to send back one load for immediate use, and to

remain with the balance till it was dried. It appears that for some time there

had been no good feeling between Moragnet and Duhaut; at any rate, the former

reproached the latter for having laid aside some pieces of the meat for himself

and his company, and took them from him. Duhaut, having determined on revenge,

brought Lietot, Heins, Tessier, and L'Archeveque, into the conspiracy. The next

night, when Moragnet, Saget, and Nika, were asleep, Lietot with a hatchet

knocked them on the head. The Indian and Saget died immediately. As Moragnet

was not yet quite dead, the conspirators compelled De Marne to finish him.

Having gone thus far, the murderers were uneasy. They feared the just vengeance

of La Salle, and immediately deliberated on the necessity of taking his life.

Chance gave them an opportunity. Two or three days had elapsed, and La Salle

became anxious on account of the absence of the party. Perhaps they had been

cut off by the savages, or had got lost, or had quarrelled. He inquired if

there had been any ill feeling between his nephew and any of the party. Such,

at length, were his forebodings of evil, that he went himself, with Father

Anastase, and two of the natives for guides, in search of them, leaving the

camp under the command of Joutel. At a distance of some six miles he found the

bloody cravat of Saget, and saw buzzards flying about the locality. Concluding

the party were near, he fired his gun. The conspirators, on the opposite side

of the river, hearing the report, and supposing it was La Salle, crossed over.

Duhaut and L'Archeveque, seeing La Salle advancing, stopped. Duhaut hid himself

in the high grass, and cocked his gun. L'Archeveque advanced a little farther,

when La Salle saw and recognised him. “Where is Moraguet?” asked La Salle. “He

is lower down,” replied L'Archeveque. At that instant, Duhaut fired and shot La

Salle in the head. He fell. Anastase took him by the hand; he did not speak,

but, pressing the hand of the holy father, expired. Thus fell, on the 20th of

March, 1687, the Sieur de la Salle, a man of genius, fortitude, and courage.

“The most unhappy thing for the memory of this famous man,” says Bossu, “is, that

he has not been pitied by anybody, and that the bad success that has attended

his undertakings has given him the appearance of an adventurer among those who

only judge from appearances. He has further been reproached with never taking

advice from anybody, and with having ruined his private affairs by his

obstinacy.”




 However

this may be, his discoveries hastened the settlement of New Orleans, and of

Texas, as we shall see.




 Father

Anastase expected to follow his leader; but he was soon quieted by Duhaut, who

told him that what was then done was an act of despair, and that the death of

Moragnet was in revenge for former insults. Anastase then dug the grave of his

kind benefactor, and buried him with his own hands, and erected a cross over

his grave. The party then returned to the camp.




 Joutel

was not present when they came in. L'Archeveque, his friend, ran to inform him

of what had occurred, and to say to him that he would be put to death if he

expressed any dissatisfaction. When he returned, Duhaut proposed that each

should command by turns. He had, however, already taken possession of the

goods, coin, and plate. Those of the party not concerned in the murders took no

part in affairs, but remained quiet. In the meantime, the conspirators

quarrelled among themselves: they could not agree as to the division of the

spoils. From quarrelling they proceeded to blows. Heins shot Duhaut in the

head, and killed him. Rutel then fired at Lietot, which, being followed by two

shots from other parties, they despatched him. Thus, within a short time, these

two assassins met with that punishment so sternly demanded by justice.




 The

Indians were astonished and scandalized with these murders. They looked upon

these people, with some reason, as barbarians, whom the Great Spirit had

devoted to self-destruction.




 After

the death of La Salle, Duhaut had determined to march back to the fort on the

Lavaca, build a vessel, and return to the West Indies; and, before his own

death, as above related, had actually returned as far as the Cenis Indians.

Joutel, Anastase, and Cavalier, had formed a secret design to continue the

journey to the Illinois. To lull the suspicions of Duhaut, they proposed to him

to permit them to remain among the Cenis Indians. This he agreed to, but his

death had changed the position of their affairs.




 After

the death of the chief murderer, Heins took command, and engaged with the Cenis

to go with them to war. This he did, leaving the friends of La Salle in camp

till his return. After many bloody battles, he returned, and consented that the

party might proceed on their journey to the Illinois. Having furnished them

with a supply of ammunition and three horses, the company, consisting of seven

persons—viz., Joutel, Anastase, the two Cavaliers, Tessier, De Marne, and Barthelemy—departed,

leaving Heins the buccaneer, arrayed in the scarlet uniform of La Salle, in

undisputed command of the remnant of the party.




 Joutel

and his followers, procuring Indian guides, retraced their steps as far as

their former journey. Thence, pursuing a northeast course, they crossed the Red

river at the Caddo village, and thence to the mouth of the Arkansas, where they

found some men, stationed by De Tonti, to greet their coming, and give them

such aid as they might require. Resting a few days at this place, they returned

to France, by way of the Illinois and Quebec. Of this company, De Marne was

drowned in Red river, and Barthelemy remained at the mouth of the Arkansas; so

that only five of the colony returned to their native land.




 Heins,

having the goods, treasure, and uniform of La Salle, and the advantage of

firearms, doubtless held sway, for a time, on the banks of the Trinity. From

his turbulent and restless spirit, and his love for human blood, we may infer

that he involved the Cenis in many wars with their neighbors, destroyed their

love of peace and agriculture, and laid the foundation for the ruin in which

that great and powerful tribe was ultimately overwhelmed.




 When

the Indians near the fort heard of the death of La Salle, and the dispersion of

his company, they attacked the fort, which they took, and put all the remaining

colonists to death, except three sons and a daughter of M. Talon, and young

Breman: these they retained as prisoners. Thus ended the first attempt to

colonize Texas.




 Early

in the spring of 1689, the chevalier de Tonti went at the head of a

considerable force in search of the colony planted by his late friend. He

probably penetrated the country as far as the Neches, but the desertion of his

men compelled him to return without effecting his object.




 


















 CHAPTER IV.




 




 EARLY

in 1686, the marquis of Laguna, then viceroy of Mexico, was informed, through

the prize taken by the Spaniards from La Salle in the West Indies, of the

French expedition; but its destination was then unknown. It is probable that,

in La Salle's first expedition into the interior of Texas, the Camanche Indians

obtained a knowledge of his location, and communicated it to the Spaniards. At

all events, the count of Monclova, who entered on the duties of the viceroyalty

in November, 1686, had immediate information of the fact. A council of war was

held, to deliberate upon the matter, and to determine how they could most

effectually carry out the royal exterminating order of Philip II. A military

post and settlement was established at Monclova; and Captain Alonzo de Leon was

appointed to the command, under the title of governor of Coaquila.




 Captain

De Leon was then despatched with a military force of one hundred men to scour

the country and hunt out the French. The expedition left Monclova early in the

spring of 1689, and arrived at Fort St. Louis, on the Lavaca, on the 22d of

April. Two days after, he went down to the head of the bay, when he saw the

wreck of the Belle. Learning from the Indians that some of the colonists were

still wandering about over the country, he visited the Cenis nation. He was

received and treated by this people with the hospitality for which they were

distinguished. He found here the notorious L'Archeveque and Grollet, and took

them prisoners. They were sent to Mexico, thence to Spain, whence they were

sent back to Mexico, and condemned to the mines.




 Having

completed the business of his expedition, De Leon returned to his post, and

reported the facts to the viceroy: he spoke in high terms of the good

disposition of the Indians, and suggested the propriety of the establishment of

missions and military posts over the country. This letter, dated on the 22d of

May, was laid before the council of the viceroy; and, after deliberation, it

was resolved to establish a mission at Fort St. Louis. Accordingly, in 1690, De

Leon was sent again, with one hundred and ten men and some friars, and

established at the fort the mission of San Francisco, so named in honor of St.

Francis D'Assisi. The king of Spain, having information of these proceedings, issued

his orders for the pacification and reduction of Texas, as he considered it of

great importance to the security of his dominions in New Mexico.




 In

1691, Don Domingo Teran was appointed governor of Coahuila and Texas, with a

salary of twenty-five hundred dollars per annum, and proceeded with fifty

soldiers and seven lay friars to establish missions and military posts. They

took with them cattle, and seeds for planting; and effected settlements on the

waters of Red river, on the Neches, and on the Guadalupe. But in a short time

these infant colonies, as well as that at Fort St. Louis, began to decline. The

Indians were hostile, the crops failed, and the cattle died; so that, in 1693,

they were all abandoned. These facts were communicated to the king: he was

informed of the great expense incurred, of the difficulty of controlling the

Indians, and it was recommended that the settlement of the province be

postponed to a time when circumstances should offer more hopes of success.




 Concurrently

with the mission of San Francisco, was established on the right bank of the Rio

Grande, three miles from the river, the mission of San Juan Bautista. This

mission became a Spanish post of observation; it was erected into a presidio;

and, in after-times, when travel became frequent between Mexico and Texas, was

on the great thoroughfare known as the “old San Antonio road.”




 Thus

Texas was once more without European settlers. Its abandonment was approved by

the superior government in March, 1694. The post at El Paso, as being on the

route to the silver-mines of Santa Fé, was still occupied; so likewise was the

mission at the presidio, probably because of its convenience for trade

with the Indians.




 The Rio

Grande seems to have been discovered at three different points by the

Spaniards; and, without knowing it to be the same stream, the discoverers gave

it as many different names, which are used to this day. The discoverers of the

river at Santa Fé, in the north of Mexico, called it the Rio del Norte;

at the presidio, on account of its great width, they named it the Rio

Grande; and at Reynoso, where the Indians were fierce and warlike (Indios

bravos), it was denominated the Rio Bravo.




 The

Spaniards were, however, aroused from their supineness, by the vigor of the

French of Louisiana. Louis XIV. had, by a charter, dated September 14, 1712,

granted to Anthony Crozot the whole of Louisiana. The boundaries in the grant

were iudefinite, yet sufficiently well expressed to give Crozat a claim to the

territory west as far as the Rio Grande. Crozat was a merchant. He had taken

the grant on speculation, and wished to make the most of it. At his instance,

Louis had appointed Lamothe Cadillac governor of Louisiana. Crozat had in view

two great objects—one, the discovery of mines; the other, a profitable trade

with the northeastern provinces of Mexico. He accordingly so instructed the

governor, requesting him to find an opening for his goods in Mexico, either

with or without the consent of the Spanish authorities.




 Accordingly,

in 1714, Cadillac sent out Huchereau St. Denis, a young man of noble family and

great enterprise, upon an expedition to Mexico. He was to proceed to

Natchitoches, there to form an establishment to oppose the Spaniards, if they

should be in that vicinity; thence he was to proceed in the direction of New

Mexico, and ascertain the practicability of opening commercial relations. He

proceeded to Natchitoches, and left there a few men to form a settlement. With

twelve men and some friendly Indians he continued his journey, and in August,

1714, reached the mission of St. John the Baptist on the Rio Grande. They were

received with hospitality by Villescas, the commandant of the post; and, making

known the object of their long journey, were requested to wait till their

business was communicated to Don Gaspardo Anaya, the governor of Coahuila, and

an answer returned. The governor, for reply, sent a guard, who seized St. Denis

and Jallot his friend and surgeon, and conveyed them to the capital of the

province! Here they remained in prison till, by the order of the viceroy, they

were conducted to Mexico, and there imprisoned. At the end of six months they

were released, or, as some say, escaped, and after two years returned to

Mobile, the then capital of Louisiana. St. Denis having courted and married the

daughter of the commandant of the mission of St. John, it is likely that he

made arrangements for smuggling. The influence acquired by St. Denis over the

Texan Indians was considerable; and when the Spaniards under Ramon, the

uncle-in-law of St. Denis, established themselves at Adaes, the Indians were

alike friendly with them. This all goes to sustain the assertion of Du Pratz,

that the Spaniards were introduced there by St. Denis for illicit tTade.




 At all

events, the vigorous movements of Crozat alarmed the duke of Linares, then

viceroy of Mexico, and steps were taken to occupy the country. Captain Don

Domingo Ramon and a few soldiers and friars were sent to Texas to establish

posts and missions. They came with St. Denis, who acted as guide. A new mission

was established in place of that of St. Francisco, but lower down on the bay of

San Bernard; and another among the Adaes, a small tribe of Indians on the

Arroyo Honda, and part of the great Caddo nation. This mission, protected by a

military post, was fifteen miles west of Natchitoches, the Honda, a small

creek, running about midway between them. The mission of Dolores was

established nearer the coast, and west of the Sabine, among the Orquisaco

Indians. The fort and mission of San Antonio de Valero was located on the right

bank of the San Pedro, about three fourths of a mile from the present catholic

church at San Antonio; but, as a security against the Indians, and for purposes

of irrigation, it was afterward removed to the San Antonio river, a noble

stream, which, only three or four miles above, breaks out, full grown, from the

foot of the Guadalupe mountains.




 Shortly

after this period, a small mission was established among the Nacogdoches

Indians. Its location, at that time, was below the present site of the handsome

town of Nacogdoches, and near the junction of the Bañita and Nana. About the

same time was located a mission among the Aes Indians, and not far from the

present town of San Augustine.




 Thus

the year 1715 may be considered the year of missions in Texas. From this time

may be dated its permanent occupancy by Spain. She had wrested it from France,

the rightful discoverer and first possessor; yet, it must be admitted, she had

acquired full possession. As the policy of Spain allowed no curious traveller

to penetrate her territories, it is probable the French did not for some years

know the extent of her trespasses; and, if they did, they had much to do in the

wars then prevailing on the continent of Europe, and much in taking care of

their other possessions.




 Captain

Don Ramon seems to have been the active laborer in the building up of these

missions. He was a great favorite with the Indians; they adopted him as a son,

and assisted him and his followers in their labors. The marquis de Aguago went

to Texas, under the order of the viceroy, as governor-general of the New

Philippines (the name by which Texas was then known), and of New Estremadura.




 While

Captain Don Ramon was at the Adaes, he paid a friendly visit to the French at

Natchitoches. He with his followers were received with great politeness by the

commander, and treated with hospitality during their stay. This, occurring

shortly after the return of St. Denis, would seem to confirm the assertion of

Du Pratz, that the Spaniards had been introduced there by St. Denis, as

previously observed, for purposes of smuggling.




 The

first efforts at forming settlements were humble enough. The buildings were but

temporary shelters, and rude cabins constructed by vertical pieces planted in

the ground, with the spaces filled up with branches interlaced and thatched.

Thus were first constructed the temporary chapel, hospital, and the dwellings

for the priests and officers. In a climate so mild and congenial, no great

necessity existed for further immediate arrangements. A new force had to be

prepared and brought into requisition to do the drudgery of more substantial

improvements. The soldiers and friars came not to perform mechanical labor, but

to put in operation the missionary machine by which were to be wrought out of

the wild Indian tribes laborers in abundance.




 The

Indians, unaccustomed to such scenes, looked on with pleasure and astonishment

at these rude structures. Indeed, such was their good nature, and their desire

to please the newcomers, that they, at first, voluntarily assisted in the work.

Small presents, kind looks, and opening hopes, were to them a sufficient

reward.




 Thus

matters stood for some time, the Spaniards being in the quiet possession of

Texas, though it was not then known by that name. The name, in fact, is

involved in obscurity. The story, first published by Don Luis de Onis in

1818—that on the visit of Alonzo de Leon to the A-Simais (Cenis) Indians in

1689, they received him with the greatest kindness, and called him and his

followers “Texas,” which in their language signifies friends—is,

no doubt, fanciful. The country was known for many years after this period as

the “New Philippines,” and was so described in official papers; and so

late as 1744, in a report made to the Spanish government of the condition of

this country, the writer says that the territory on the Neches is called Texas.

La Harpe, in his letter to D'Alarconne, dated Nasonite (eastern Texas), July 8,

1719, calls it the province of Las Tekas; and this is the first mention

of the name in any works made public. It may have been the appellation of some

petty tribe of Indians living in eastern Texas; or it may be of Spanish origin,

and applied to the light structures of the Indians on the Neches.




 


















 CHAPTER V.




 




 AMERICA,

as a missionary field, was not, in its early settlement, a place to be desired.

In some parts, where the precious metals abounded, and fortunes were readily

made, the worldly-minded herald of the cross could find somewhat to tempt him;

but, with this exception, it was a vast, unexplored region, but thinly peopled

by a strange and degraded race, who were utterly ignorant, not only of the

moral code of elevated society, but even of the rights of property. As

Christianity and civilization must necessarily flourish together, the Indians

had to be civilized as well as converted. They were to be taught to love God

more than their hunting-grounds; to forgive their enemies, and not to scalp

them. These teachings were to be the result of infinite patience, constant

prayer, a living faith, an upright walk, and, as God works through

instrumentalities, a previous mental cultivation. Who, then, was sufficient for

these things? A new country had been occupied. Her vast prairies and woodlands,

beautifully blended, lay smiling before the strangers. At that age, the

missionary operations in America, with the exception of the English colonies,

were carried on by the Jesuits, Dominicans, and Franciscans, the three

principal orders of preachers of the Roman catholic church. These orders,

though deriving authority alike from the papal see, were essentially different.

The Jesuits were polished, cheerful, and courtly; the Dominicans, as preachers

against heretics, were gloomy and fanatical. From the time of St. Dominic, they

found dangerous rivals in the Franciscans, with whom they divided the honor of

ruling church and state until 1640, when the shrewd and learned followers of De

Loyola superseded them in directing the education and politics of the Old

World.




 The

Franciscans are a religious order founded by St. Francis d'Assisi, in 1208, at

Naples. The order was distinguished by absolute poverty and the renunciation of

worldly pleasures. Its original object was the care of the spiritual interests

of the people, so much neglected by the secular clergy of that age. The founder

prohibited his followers from possessing any property, nor were they to make

learning and the polite accomplishments their study. The rule of the order,

sanctioned by the pope in 1210 and 1223, destined them to beg and to preach.

Responsible to no one but the pope, they had many privileges, and their numbers

were soon so increased, that they filled thousands of monasteries. The rules of

poverty became relaxed, and their convents produced many learned men. The popes

Nicholas IV., Alexander V., Sixtus IV. and V., and Clement XIV., were from this

order.




 The

Franciscans became divided into different sects, yet had a common general. The

Alcantarines, or those who followed the reforms introduced by Peter of

Alcantara, flourished in Spain, and, with the conquerors of Mexico, many of

them came over to America, and founded missions and convents. Among others, the

convents of Quaretaro and Zacatecas, established early in the seventeenth

century, furnished the missionaries destined to introduce to the savages of

Texas the knowledge of the true God. These fathers observed strictly the rules

laid down by their founder: they went with their feet entirely bare; a coarse

woollen frock, with a cord round the waist, to which a rope with a knotted

scourge was suspended, formed their common dress. Their monastic vows

prohibited them from holding either real or personal property, and also from

familiar intercourse with the other sex, and required an entire compliance with

the rules of the order and the commands of the superior.




 In

Texas, in 1715, such men could well keep their vows of poverty and self-denial.

But they had before them a work to be performed, which, without hope of future

reward, and a strong faith in heaven, none could have the heart to undertake.

As beggars, the Indians had nothing to give, and in this avocation far

outstripped their ghostly instructors! As preachers, they had almost

insuperable difficulties to meet and overcome. They had to learn the language

of the natives; to domesticate and civilize them; to teach them the nature of

property, its value, and the mode of acquiring it. But, what was most important,

the Indian was necessitated to unlearn all that he had previously acquired. His

wandering life must cease; he must henceforth have a home, and a place of

worship. His manitous, as numerous as the objects around him, must all

give place to the idea of one great Manitou—the Creator. His passions

must be subdued; his habits, manners, and his entire nature, changed. “Nothing

is more difficult,” says Father Marest, “than the conversion of these Indians;

it is a miracle of the Lord's mercy. It is necessary first to transform them

into men, and afterward to labor to make them Christians.”




 This

work was undertaken in Texas by the patient followers of St. Francis. They had

not the liberty of the Jesuits, in not being restrained by the formalities of a

tedious recitation of prayers, but, under all circumstances, at oft-recurring

times, were bound on their consciences to repeat them. It was an important

object to keep the Indians together long enough to make an impression on their

minds. But the Indian must be fed; his only means of support was by fishing,

and the chase; he knew no other. To maintain him by agriculture, he must labor

in the field; and this labor must be compulsory, for laziness is a leading

feature in the character of an Indian. Upon such a basis, then, were laid down

the rules for the government and instruction of the red man.




 The

establishments thus formed in Texas were known as presidios, or missions.

There was a mission at each presidio; but many missions were without

soldiers, at least in any considerable numbers. Each presidio was

entitled to a commandant, and the necessary officers for a command of two

hundred and fifty men; though, from various circumstances, the number

constantly varied, and was generally less. The troops were inferior, badly clothed,

idle, and disorderly. The buildings were erected around a square, or plaza

de armas, and consisted of the church, dwellings for officers, friars, and

soldiers, with storehouses, prisons, &c. The size of the square depended on

the population, the strength of the force intended to be stationed there, and

also upon the extent of the district dependent on the presidio. Huts

were erected at a short distance from the principal edifices, for the converted

Indians. The unmarried of either sex were placed in separate huts, and at night

locked up by the friars, who carried the keys. They encouraged chastity among

the Indians, and punished its violation by public or private whipping, as the

offender was a male or a female.




 Forts

were erected near the presidios, and sometimes the church was fortified.

The civil and military authority was united in the commandant, which, in some

matters, was subordinate and in others superior to the ecclesiastical power.

The principal duty of the military was to repel the invasion of the wild

Indians, and to suppress the rebellious spirit of the converts. The Indians

were well fed, clothed, and cared for; their labors were not heavy; and, in

these particulars, they could not complain. But they were compelled to perform

certain religious ceremonies before they could understand anything of their

meaning. Sundry rules were laid down for their every motion, a departure from

which was severely punished. It was this tyranny over the minds and bodies of

the Indians that enfeebled and wasted them. They were willing to forego the

food and raiment of the missions, for the sublime scenery of the vast prairies,

the liberty of roaming unmolested over them, and chasing the buffalo and the

deer. Freedom, dear to all, is the idol of the Indian. He worships the liberty

of nature. When restrained from his loved haunts, he pines, and sickens, and

dies. Had the Franciscans, like the Jesuits on the lakes, gone with their

flocks on their hunting-excursions, joined them in their feasts, and praised

them for their skill in the chase, they would have met with greater success.

But the Jesuits possessed a twofold advantage: they had the power of dispensing

with tedious and uninteresting prayers and ceremonies; and they also enjoyed

the aid of the cheerful, talkative, open-hearted French: while the Franciscans,

without such dispensing power, were likewise bound to co-operate with the

gloomy, suspicious, and despotic Spaniards.




 We are

not informed respecting the daily round of spiritual and temporal duties

performed by the converted Indians of the Franciscan missions, but presume they

were not very different from those described by Father Marest as practised

among the Illinois in 1712. “Early in the morning,” says he, “we assemble the catechumens

at the church, when they have prayers, they receive instruction, and chant some

canticles. When they have retired, mass is said, at which all the Christians

assist, the men placed on one side and the women on the other; then they have

prayers, which are followed by giving them a homily, after which each goes to

his labor. We then spend our time in visiting the sick, to give them the

necessary remedies, to instruct them, and to console those who are laboring

under any affliction. In the afternoon, the catechizing is held, at which all

are present, Christians and catechumens, men and children, young and

old, and where each, without distinction of rank or age, answers the questions

put by the missionary. As these people have no books, and are naturally

indolent, they would shortly forget the principles of religion, if the remembrance

of them was not recalled by these almost continual instructions. Our visits to

their wigwams occupy the rest of the day. In the evening, all assemble again at

the church, to listen to the instructions which are given, to have prayers, and

to sing some hymns. On Sundays and festivals they add to the ordinary exercises

instructions which are given after the vespers….. They generally end the day by

private meetings, which they hold at their own residences, the men separately

from the women; and there they recite the chapelet with alternate

choirs, and chant the hymns, until the night is far advanced.”




 If to

these duties we add the sacraments and confessions, we need not be surprised

that the neophytes sometimes fled from the missions, and resumed the war-whoop

and the chase. At the French missions among the Indians, the apostates were won

back by persuasion. Not so among the Spaniards: the troops at hand pursued

them, and, if taken, they were compelled to return—when, in addition to a

severe whipping, they were obliged to do penance.




 The

Franciscan fathers made regular reports of the success of their missions to the

superior, and the latter to the general of the order. On these reports depended

to a great extent the favor shown the missionaries; hence they were excited to

zeal in their efforts to make converts. Not content with the fruits of

persuasion and kind treatment, they made forays upon the surrounding tribes.

The soldiers performed this duty. The prisoners taken, especially the young,

were trained alike in the mysteries of the Christian faith and of agriculture.

To effect their training, they were divided among the older and more deserving

Indians of the mission, who held them in servitude until they were of an age

suitable to marry. At the proper time this rite was faithfully performed, and

thus there grew up a race of domestic Indians around the missions.




 To add

to the strength of the missions and the number of the converts, reliable

Indians of these establishments were sent out among their wild brethren to

bring them in. This was sometimes done by persuasion, and sometimes by

deception and force. However, they were brought to the missions, and

incorporated among the learners and workmen of the fold.




 When we

call to mind the fanaticism and ignorance of that age, and the important fact

that the Indians who remained long in the missions became greatly attached to

their spiritual guides and the form of their worship, we must admit that these

pioneers of religion deserved some praise. Their toils and privations evinced

their faith—their patience and humility should satisfy the world of their

sincerity.




 Until

the present century, the catholics did more for the cause of missions than the

protestants; and if, a century and a half ago, they committed fatal errors in

their religious enterprises, it is no more than has since been done. The fate

of the aboriginal races of the New World, and even of the Pacific islands, is

peculiar. A well-defined instance of any tribe or nation that has been

civilized, without a total or partial destruction of its people, can scarcely

be produced. This may, to some extent, be attributed to the vices introduced by

the friends of the missionaries.




 As much

of the ill success of the missions resulted from the regulations of the Spanish

government in regard to the Indians, it may be well that we should refer to

them. These regulations for the government and instruction of the natives of

Spanish America emanated from the “council of the Indies,” and were sent out

for observance as laws sanctioned by the king. They were based upon the

conclusion of the council that all the people of the New World were marked out

by the inferiority of their minds for servitude, whom it would be impossible to

instruct or improve, except continually under the eye of a master. Yet, as

experience suggested the modification of these regulations, they were so

altered from time to time, until 1542, when, by a decree of Charles V., the

Indians were restored to a nominal freedom. A tax, however, of one dollar each

was levied upon all males between eighteen and fifty years of age, three

fourths of which went into the royal treasury, and the other fourth was applied

to the payment of the salaries of local officers and parish expenses. They were

also subject to a certain vassalage, similar to the former tenure by service in

England. This vassalage consisted in the liability of the Indian to labor a

certain number of days for his patron or the king in the fields or in the

mines; and, although the time was limited in Mexico to six days in the year,

yet such was the distance of this degraded people from the head of the

government, such the disregard of the laws, and such the cupidity and

inhumanity of the patrons and agents of the crown, that the term of service was

generally evaded, and the Indians treated with great cruelty. This labor was

gratuitous; yet, in the meantime, the Indians became debtors to their patrons,

and were compelled to continued service under pretence of payment: hence

originated a species of servitude called peonage. The peons

increased to such an extent, that the patrons made no objection to the abolition

of the system of encomiendas; for labor was so cheap, that it cost

little or nothing.




 In

addition to the capitation-tax levied from the Indians, they were subject to

tithes, marriage-fees, and other payments, drawn from them by the church. Still

further, the Indians paid large sums for the bull of Cruzado. This papal

bull is published every two years, and grants to the purchaser an absolution

for past offences, besides the privilege of eating certain prohibited articles

of food during religious fasts. The eloquence and zeal of the monks were

employed in the sale of these pardons, and, such was the credulity of the

people of Mexico, that few failed to purchase. The price varied from ten

dollars to twenty-five cents, according to the condition of the purchaser and

the privileges granted.




 At the

period of which we write, the clergy of New Spain were inferior to that class

in Europe, in both morality and intelligence. With the exception of the

Jesuits, and the higher functionaries of the church, the entire clergy of

Mexico were not only destitute of the virtues necessary to their station, but

were in every respect profligate. Some of them, disregarding their vows of

poverty, turned merchants; others, forgetting their oaths of chastity, indulged

in the grossest licentiousness. It was in vain that the civil authorities

attempted to correct these abuses. The clergy held an ignorant and credulous

people under their control, and charged the governors with hostility to

religion. The church triumphed; and these corruptions continued to increase,

until the inhabitants of Mexico ceased to venerate the monastic orders. It was

then only that King Ferdinand VI. promulgated his decree prohibiting the

regular or monastic clergy from taking charge of the parishes, but limited this

right to the secular clergy.




 Pope

Alexander VI., in 1501, granted to the crown of Spain all the newly-discovered

countries in America, on condition that provision should be made for the

religious instruction of the natives; and Pope Julius II., three years

afterward, conferred on Ferdinand and his successors the right of patronage,

and the disposal of all church benefices. These grants of the popes, made at an

early day, constituted the king of Spain the head of the church, and gave him

the absolute control of its vast revenues. This fact is referred to here,

because of the influence it had, and still continues to have, in the

revolutions of Mexico.




 Such

were the rules and regulations for the government of the Indians, and such

their condition, as also that of their spiritual instructors, in 1715. Of

course, these regulations could not apply to wild Indians (Yndios bravos),

but only to the converted Indians (Yndios reducidos). The three classes

of the inferior or working clergy consisted of—curates, or parish-priests, in

the Spanish settlements; teachers of Christian doctrine, having charge of those

districts occupied by the converted Indians; and missionaries, whose duty it

was to go to the countries of the wild Indians, and, by persuasion and other

means, to bring them under the protection of the government, and impart to them

a knowledge of their Creator. The church of New Spain, in other respects, was

organized as that of the mother-country, having its archbishops, bishops,

deans, &c.




 The ceremonies,

the solemnities, and the pomp of the Roman catholic worship, were fascinating.

To the natives, who never reflect, or conceive an abstract idea, the sublime

spiritual truths of the gospel could not be taught. Only through the senses, by

means of striking emblems, could they learn a few simple truths.




 The

missionaries, while engaged in converting the wild Indians, were not unmindful

of their own comfort and that of the missions. The labor of the natives was

employed in agriculture, in raising stock, and in erecting large and convenient

edifices, by which means the fathers were not only enabled to live agreeably

themselves, but could extend the hospitalities of the missions to travellers

and friends.
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